THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
HONORABLE R. MARKLEY DENNIS, JR., CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2013-000857

Omni Insurance Company, Appellant,

v.

Cary Glenn Ryals, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Drayton Hastie, III
S.C. Bar # 0015583
1417 Calhoun Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Tel: (803) 319-2157
Fax: (803) 929-5333
draytonhastie@sc.rr.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO APPLY THE UIM COVERAGE LIMITATION IN THE POLICY THAT PREVENTS THE SAME THIRD PARTY CLAIMANT FROM RECOVERING TWICE AGAINST THE SAME POLICY FOR DAMAGES ARISING FROM THE SAME ACCIDENT BECAUSE SUCH LIMITATION VIOLATES SOUTH CAROLINA LAW?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN A CLAIMANT AND AN INSURED IN APPLYING THE POLICY LIMITATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF A UIM CLAIM?
- III. DID THE COURT ERR IN APPLYING LEGAL PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE TO MANDATORY UNINSURED COVERAGE WHILE THE ISSUES IN THIS CASE RELATE TO VOLUNTARY UNDERINSURED COVERAGE?
- IV. DID THE COURT ERR IN RELYING UPON *BRATCHER v. NATIONAL GRANGE MUT. INS. CO.*, 292 S.C. 330, 356 S.E.2D 151 (CT. APP. 1987)?
- V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE APPLICABILITY OF THE POLICY PROVISIONS RAISED BY OMNI IN SUPPORT OF LIMITING UIM COVERAGE DUE TO MR. CONSTINES BREACH OF THE POLICY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves a declaratory judgment action filed on February 24, 2011, by Appellant Omni Insurance Company (“Omni”) regarding whether or not Cary Glenn Ryals, a third party passenger claimant (“Claimant”), is entitled to *both* mandatory liability coverage and voluntary underinsured motorist (“UIM”) coverage under the same policy issued to Christopher Constine¹ where the policy limits the ability of a third party claimant to receive voluntary UIM when he has already received the full liability coverage policy limits. Claimant served an Answer and Counterclaim denying that Omni is entitled to the declaratory judgment sought, and seeking a declaration that UIM coverage should

¹ Significantly, Claimant is not seeking recovery via his own insurance policy, as he opted not to obtain and has thus failed to pay for such coverage under his own policy.

be afforded to him via Mr. Constine's policy in addition to the liability coverage. The parties filed cross motions for Summary Judgment.

Omni is appealing the "Defendant's Order Granting Summary Judgment," by Circuit Court Judge R. Markley Dennis, which granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration. Judge Dennis denied the Motion for Reconsideration by Order dated March 12, 2013, and filed on March 15, 2013. The post mark for the date the Clerk of Court mailed notice of the entry of the Order is March 19, 2013, and was received on Monday, March 25, 2013. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on April 15, 2013. The transcript of the October 25, 2012, hearing on the Parties' cross motions for Summary Judgment before the Circuit Court was received on Tuesday, September 17, 2013. This Initial Brief was filed and served on Thursday, October 17, 2013.

FACTS

The essential facts regarding this matter are undisputed and have been admitted in the Parties' pleadings. Plaintiff issued an automobile insurance policy ("Policy") covering a 2004 Nissan Pathfinder ("Vehicle") that was owned by Christopher Constine. *See* Policy Dec. Page; Claimant's Answer, ¶6. On May 26, 2009, during the applicable Policy period, Mr. Constine was operating the Vehicle with Claimant as a passenger along with Autumn Sinclair, who is not involved in this litigation, when a one car collision occurred. *See* Claimant's Answer, ¶¶ 7-9. Claimant is not a resident relative of the named insured of the Policy. *See id.*, ¶ 8. Following the accident, Claimant and Mr. Constine got into a knife fight, resulting in injuries to Claimant and in criminal charges being brought against Mr. Constine. *See* Affidavit of Detective Randy Gray. In an

apparent effort to mitigate the criminal charges and curry favor with Claimant by facilitating his claim for damages covered by insurance, Mr. Constine breached his duty to cooperate in the defense by executing an Affidavit alleging that Claimant's injuries were attributable to the accident rather than to the knife fight. *See* Affidavit of Constine.

Claimant brought claims against Mr. Constine, alleging that he caused the accident and that Claimant was injured. *See id.* ¶15. The Policy provides minimum limits coverage in the amount of \$25,000 per claim. *See id.* ¶16; Policy Dec. Page. Claimant made a Tyger River demand for the Policy limits, in response to which Omni tendered the Policy limits of \$25,000.00 and in exchange for a Covenant not to Execute, thereby insulating Mr. and Ms. Constine from personal liability. *See* Claimant's Answer, ¶¶ 17-19. This payment was made before any litigation was filed. *Compare* Covenant not to Execute, *with* Claimant's Liability Complaint.

Claimant next made a claim for underinsured motorist ("UIM") benefits under the same Policy against which the Claimant has already received full Policy limits. *See* Claimant's Answer, ¶¶ 20-21. However, because Claimant decided not to acquire UIM coverage of his own, he seeks to double-dip his claim against the Constine Policy by seeking UIM coverage that was requested by Mr. Constine, paid by Mr. Constine, and issued to Mr. Constine. *See id.* ¶23. Claimant is asserting the same claims for damages arising from the same accident related to the UIM claim as he previously asserted in making his policy limits demand against the same Policy. *See id.* ¶¶20-21. Nothing in this action seeks to prevent Claimant from recovering his own UIM coverage, which would have been personal and portable to him, and thus could have been available to him had he obtained it.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. **THE POLICY CONTAINS LIMITATIONS THAT PREVENT CLAIMANT FROM RECEIVING VOLUNTARY UIM COVERAGE WHERE HE HAS ALREADY RECEIVED THE POLICY LIMITS AND WHERE MR. CONSTINE BREACHED THE POLICY.**

The Policy issued to Mr. Constine contains the following limitations, which prevent non-resident, non-relative, third party passengers, such as Claimant, from making more than one claim against the same Policy for damages arising from the same incident:

The limit of liability shown in the Declarations for each person for Bodily Injury Liability is our maximum limit of liability for all damages, including damages for care, loss of services or death, arising out of bodily injury sustained by one person in any one auto accident.

Policy, Part A-Liability Coverage, Limit of Liability, A., p.5.

No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and ... any Underinsured Motorist Coverage provided by this policy.

Policy, Part A-Liability Coverage, Limit of Liability, B.2., p.6. Therefore, under circumstances as are presented here, where Claimant is not a resident relative of the family that was issued the Policy by Omni, he can make a single claim against the Policy- either for liability coverage, as was done, or, for instance, for UIM coverage, if another driver were at fault and Claimant's damages exceeded the available policy limits of the other driver (which was not the case given these facts). Under this Policy limitation, the Constine family has UIM coverage in the amount they opted to purchase, and this coverage, being personal and portable to them, does not in any way limit their ability to receive the UIM coverage for which they opted and paid. The Constine Policy UIM coverage, however, is not personal and portable to third party claimants such as Claimant, who has already made a claim against and received the full Policy limits.

Similarly, the Policy has a limitation to the applicability of UIM benefits, which limits Claimant's recovery under the Policy for "all damages" to the \$25,000.00 set forth on the Declarations page:

Our maximum limit of liability for all damages, including damages for care, loss of services or death, arising out of bodily injury sustained by any one person in that accident is the sum of the limits of liability shown in the Declarations for each person for Bodily Injury Liability Underinsured Motorist Coverage.

Policy, Part C2-Underinsured Motorist Coverage, Limit of Liability, A.1, p.15. There is no dispute that Omni has already complied with Claimant's Policy limits demand. Having already received Policy limits from the Constine Policy, Claimant is unable to assert an additional claim against this same Policy for damages allegedly arising from the same accident. The Policy also provides:

No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this Coverage² and Part A, Part B, Part C, or Part D of the Policy.

Policy, Part C2 – Underinsured Motorist Coverage, Limit of Liability, D., p.16. This provision, of course, compliments to the Part A limitation, set forth *supra*, which clearly demonstrates that the intent is to prevent duplicate claims by the same person against the same policy for damages arising from the same accident.

Lastly, the Policy allows Omni to void voluntary coverage in the event of a breach by the policyholder. In this instance, Mr. Constine failed to provide prompt notice of the accident, and he failed to cooperate in the defense by providing an Affidavit alleging to attribute the injuries received by Claimant to the accident rather than to the knife fight,

² This coverage being the applicable Part of the Policy in which it appears, which is UIM Coverage under Part C2.

which is a clear attempt to facilitate policy coverage of Claimant's injuries received after the accident. Counsel for Claimant recently apprised Appellant that this Affidavit establishes that there should be UIM coverage for the injuries. The Policy provides as follows:

We have no duty to provide coverage under this policy unless there has been full compliance with the following duties:

- A. We must be notified promptly of how, when, and where the accident or loss happened. Notice should also include the names and addresses of any injured persons and of any witnesses.
- B. A person seeking any coverage must:
 1. Cooperate with us in the investigation, settlement, or defense of any claim or suit.

Policy, Part E – Duties After Accident or Loss, A.-B.1., p.22. As is set forth *infra* Section V, although an insurer may not suspend mandatory coverage required by the South Carolina Financial Responsibility Act, in the event of a policy breach by an insured, South Carolina courts do allow an insurer to suspend voluntary coverage, such as UIM. South Carolina does not require an insured to have UIM coverage, as distinguished from the mandatory minimum limits required for liability and uninsured motorist coverage. As a result, Mr. Constine's breach of the Policy provides additional grounds for voluntary UIM coverage to be voided and Claimant's additional claim against the Policy to be denied.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE POLICY'S UIM COVERAGE LIMITATION VIOLATES SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

A. South Carolina Courts Recognize Policy Limitations.

South Carolina courts have long recognized that “insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose whatever conditions they desire upon an insured, **provided they are not in contravention of some statutory inhibition or public policy.**” *Universal Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Metropolitan Property & Life Ins. Co.*, 298 S.C. 404,

410, 380 S.E.2d 858, 861 (Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added); *Pennsylvania Nat. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Parker*, 282 S.C. 546, 550-51, 320 S.E. (2d) 458, 461 (Ct. App. 1984). *Rhame v. National Grange Mutual Ins. Co.*, 238 S.C. 539, 544, 121 S.E. (2d) 94, 96 (1961); *Jordan v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 264 S.C. 294, 214 S.E. (2d) 818 (1975); Couch On Insurance, Section 45:82 (rev. ed. 1981). See *Willis v. Fidelity & Cas. Co.*, 253 S.C. 91, 169 S.E.2d 282 (1969) (“parties are free to choose their terms regarding voluntary coverage that is not governed by statute.”). As a result, South Carolina courts have recognized reasonable policy limitations that do not conflict with the legislative expression of the public policy of the State as revealed in the various motor vehicle insurance statutes. *Parker*, 282 S.C. at 551, 320 S.E.2d at 461; *Pennsylvania Nat’l Mutual Casualty Ins. Co. v. Dawkins*, 551 F. Supp. 971, (D.S.C. 1982); *Heaton v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.*, 278 F. Supp. 725 (D.S.C. 1968).

Therefore, Claimant must demonstrate that there is some statutory prohibition to limiting the scope of UIM coverage, or that such a limitation is violates public policy. As is demonstrated herein, Claimant is unable to do so because there is no discord between Omni’s UIM limitation and the UIM Act. See *infra*, Section II.B. In fact, not only is there no conflict with public policy, but the public policy of this state, as set forth by the South Carolina Supreme Court and its chief justice, support enforcement of this UIM limitation. See *infra*, Section II.C. Additionally, the South Carolina General Assembly and Supreme Court have expressly allowed policy provisions that limit the applicability of UIM coverage. See *infra*, Sections II.D., II.E. Therefore, Omni’s Policy provisions limiting UIM coverage should be recognized by this Court.

B. The Policy's UIM Limitation Complies With The UIM Act.

South Carolina courts have ruled that UIM coverage is controlled by and subject to the underinsured motorist act ("UIM Act"), and any insurance policy provisions inconsistent therewith are void, and the relevant statutory provisions prevail as if embodied in the policy. *See, e.g., Ferguson v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.*, 261 S.C. 96, 198 S.E.2d 522 (1973). By the same token, provisions that are not inconsistent with the UIM Act should be recognized. The UIM Act is set forth under S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160, which provides in pertinent part³ as follows:

Automobile insurance carriers shall offer, at the option of the insured, ... underinsured motorist coverage up to the limits of the insured liability coverage to provide coverage in the event that damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist or in excess of any damages cap or limitation imposed by statute. If, however, an insured or named insured is protected by ... underinsured motorist coverage in excess of the basic limits, the policy shall provide that the insured or named insured is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. If none of the insured's or named insured's vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with the excess or underinsured coverage. Benefits paid pursuant to this section are not subject to subrogation and assignment.

No action may be brought under the underinsured motorist provision unless copies of the pleadings in the action establishing liability are served in the manner provided by law upon the insurer writing the underinsured motorist provision. The insurer has the right to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist in any action which may affect its liability and has thirty days after service of process on it in which to appear. The evidence of service upon the insurer may not be made a part of the record. In the event the automobile insurance insurer for the putative at-fault insured chooses to settle in part the claims against its insured by payment of its applicable liability limits on behalf of its insured, the underinsured motorist insurer may assume control of the defense of action for its own benefit. No underinsured motorist policy may contain a clause requiring the insurer's consent to settlement with the at-fault party.

³ The portion of the statute addressing UNinsured motorist coverage is irrelevant to this case and is omitted.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160. Reviewing the Policy's UIM limitations together with the UIM Act shows that there is nothing that violates the UIM Act and its requirements.

Significantly, there is no provision requiring that an insurer provide UIM coverage for a third party passenger riding in the insured vehicle who does not obtain his own UIM coverage and who have already received Policy limits in accordance with his Tyger River Policy limits demand. This fact is established not only by a simple review of the UIM Act *supra*, but also by the Claimant's and the Circuit Court's failure to identify any component of the statute that conflicts with the Policy and that must be incorporated into the Policy. Because there is no statutory conflict, Omni and Mr. Constine are free to agree to those terms as are set forth in the Policy. As a third party to the Policy, Claimant is not in a position to object to the Policy provisions established between Omni and Mr. Constine anymore than they could have objected to Mr. Constine's failure to obtain UIM coverage (should he have failed to do so).

As established by the South Carolina courts' decisions (set forth *infra* Section II.E.1.), a clear message is conveyed that while policy limitations affecting mandatory coverage⁴ may be deemed to be void, UIM limitations must be viewed in a different light due to the fact that UIM coverage is entirely voluntary. Where insurance coverage is voluntary, the insurer and insured are free to enter into contract provisions in accordance with their own choosing. If an insured does not like the policy provisions offered, he is free to seek a Policy endorsement or obtain insurance coverage with another provider with different terms. As a result, the Policy provisions need not be modified or

⁴ Being liability coverage and uninsured motorist coverage in the amount set by the statutorily mandated minimum limits.

stricken to comply with the UIM Act, and its terms should be enforced in accordance with their plain language.

C. South Carolina Public Policy Supports Enforcement Of The UIM Limitation.

The rule of statutory construction of statutes pertaining to public policy is strong. “When a statute is a part of other legislation, designed as a whole to establish an expressed state policy, the court should strive to effectuate that policy.” *Spoone v. Newsome Chevrolet Buick*, 306 S.C. 438, 444, 412 S.E.2d 434, 438 (Ct. App. 1991) (citing *Gregg Dyeing Co. v. Query*, 166 S.C. 117, 164 S.E. 588 (1930)). The South Carolina Supreme Court has ruled that enforcing the policy limitation upon the scope and applicability of UIM coverage advances public policy of “encourag[ing] persons to purchase UIM insurance on all their vehicles.” *Burgess v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 373 S.C. 37, 644 S.E.2d 40, 42 (2007). *See also Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Erwood*, 373 S.C. 88, 92, 644 S.E.2d 62, 64 (2007) (Chief Justice Toal’s dissent identifying the Court’s public policy interest of encouraging the purchase of UIM coverage). Under this clear articulation of public policy, there is no conflict with the UIM statute being limited to named insureds and their resident relatives, as those who have properly exercised the diligence and foresight to opt for and acquire UIM coverage. Allowing Claimant, as a third party to the Policy to seek a double recovery on a liability claim does not further this public policy goal. To the contrary, allowing this result creates an incentive for such persons to refuse to acquire their own UIM coverage to continue under the expectation that they can simply attach themselves to someone else’s coverage.

Further, allowing third parties to claim against the available UIM coverage actually reduces the amount of UIM coverage available to the policyholders who opted and

paid for it.⁵ As a result, through this UIM coverage limitation, Omni is preventing the dilution of such funds by parties who did not actually contract for or otherwise pay for such coverage. Thus, this UIM coverage limitation allows Omni to fulfill its duty to its named insureds to maintain the UIM coverage for the ones who contracted with Omni for the Policy and who had the diligence and foresight to opt for, pay for, and obtain UIM coverage.

The General Assembly has indicated that the required minimum limits of coverage for both liability and UM are 25,000 per person and 50,000 per accident. *See* S.C. Code § 38-77-140. There is no dispute that Omni complied with this requirement via its tender of its Policy limits of \$25,000.00. The existence of UIM coverage arises solely as voluntary coverage pursuant to terms agreed between Mr. Constine and Omni. If the Claimant failed to obtain his own UIM coverage, then this Court should not seek to reform a Policy to which Claimant is not a party so to create coverage that does not otherwise exist. *See, e.g., GEICO v. Draine*, 389 S.C. 586, 698 S.E.2d 866 (Ct. Ap. 2010) (refusing

⁵ Take, for instance, two couples travelling together, Mr. and Mrs. Owner with Mr. and Mrs. Passenger. The Owners (who own the vehicle) opted for and paid for UIM coverage of \$25,000 per person and \$50,000 per accident. The Passengers decided they did not want to pay for UIM coverage on their vehicle (UIM coverage is personal and portable, and thus would be available to them while passengers in the Owner's vehicle). Mr. Owner causes an accident and the liability coverage limits are insufficient to cover the damages suffered by both Mrs. Owner and the Passengers. Should Mrs. Owner's damages total \$25,000 in excess of the liability coverage of the at fault driver, then Omni's UIM limitation would ensure that she receives the full amount of UIM coverage for which she paid. However, if the Passengers' damages also total \$50,000 in excess of the liability coverage, then without Omni's UIM limitation, Mrs. Owner would be required to apportion the available UIM coverage with the Passengers. This would result in the Owners being denied the coverage they need and should be entitled to, while the Passengers reap a benefit of additional coverage for which they never paid, all to the detriment of the Owners. While this example does not reflect the situation in the present case, it illustrates the proper purpose served by the Policy limitations.

to reform policy to provide UIM coverage where insured previously rejected UIM coverage); *Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 341 S.C. 143, 533 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2000) (“The fact the amount of liability insurance selected by State Farm's insured may not be adequate to pay the full amount of both types of injuries is a repercussion of the choice made by the insured, not any contravention of South Carolina law or public policy.”).

D. The Legislature Expressly Allows For UIM Coverage To Be Limited.

Not only are Omni's UIM limitations compliant with the UIM Act, but the South Carolina Legislature has expressed a clear intent to allow an insurer to limit the scope of UIM coverage via statutory provisions related to automobile insurance. For instance, S.C. Code § 15-78-190 allows a Tort Claims Act claimant to *potentially* recover against his own UIM policy, subject to the terms of the policy providing UIM coverage under those circumstances.⁶ If a UIM claimant could recover under any set of facts where his damages exceeded the available liability insurance, then this provision would be meaningless. As a result, the Legislature clearly intended that an insurer be able to apply limitations to UIM coverage that do not conflict with the UIM Act. Similarly, “uninsured motor vehicle” is defined as “a motor vehicle as to which ... the insurer writing the same successfully denies

⁶ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-190 provides as follows: “If the amount of the verdict or judgment is not satisfied by reason of the monetary limitations of this chapter upon recovery from the State or political subdivision thereof, **the plaintiff's insurance company, subject to the underinsured and uninsured defendant provisions of the plaintiff's insurance policy, if any, shall compensate the plaintiff** for the difference between the amount of the verdict or judgment and the payment by the political subdivision. If a cause of action is barred under § 15-78-60 of the 1976 Code, the plaintiff's insurance company must compensate him for his losses subject to the aforementioned provisions of his insurance policy.” (emphasis added).

coverage thereunder....” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-30(14)(b). If it were impossible to deny or limit coverage, then this statutory definition would have no meaning.

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