THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2013-000857

Omni Insurance Company,

Appellant,

v.

Cary Glenn Ryals,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carl H. Jacobson (Bar No.: 2942)
Jeff Buncher, Jr. (Bar No.: 78890)
Post Office Box 399
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 723-7491
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED
DEC 19 2013
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

- I. This Court's decision in *Bratcher v. National Grange Ins. Co.*, 292 S.C. 330, 356 S.E.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1987) is controlling.

At the heart of this declaratory judgment action is the underinsured motorist statute. The statute provides that automobile carriers must offer underinsured motorist coverage “[i]n the event that damages are sustained in excess of the liability limits carried by an at-fault insured or underinsured motorist or in excess of any damages cap or limitation imposed by statute.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160.

The plain language of the underinsured motorist statute contains two important components. First, that underinsured motorist coverage protects an insured against insufficient liability limits carried by an at fault insured or an underinsured driver. Second, the underinsured motorist statute does not differentiate between a Class I or a Class II insured's ability to seek and collect underinsured motorist benefits. *Id.*

Omni's policy language at issue in this case provides that “No one will be entitled to receive duplicate payments for the same elements of loss under this coverage and Part A [liability coverage], Part B, Part C1 or Part D of this policy.” In other words, **no one, not even the named insured**, would be entitled to recover UIM benefits according to their policy. (emphasis added).

Bratcher v. National Grange Ins. Co., 292 S.C. 330, 356 S.E.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1987) is on all fours with the present case. Franklin Bratcher was a passenger in his father, Welton Bratcher's vehicle. Franklin Bratcher was seriously injured in a wreck and his father was determined to be at fault. Franklin Bratcher sought to obtain the liability limits in the amount of \$50,000.00 and UIM benefits in the same amount from his

father's at-fault vehicle in which he was a passenger. National Grange filed a declaratory judgment action disputing the applicability of the UIM benefits as to Franklin Bratcher, arguing that a policy provision excluded vehicles owned by Welton Bratcher from the definition of an underinsured motor vehicle. This Court noted that the then-underinsured motorist statute, § 56-9-831, authorized "insurance carriers to restrict the amount of underinsured motorist coverage to the limits of liability coverage **but does not** authorize any other restrictions on the underinsured motorist coverage. *Id.* at 332 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). In so holding, this Court permitted a passenger to collect both liability and underinsured motorist coverage. This is exactly what Respondent is attempting to do in this case.

Bratcher did not address whether the passenger was a Class I or a Class II insured, and it did not have to because the underinsured motorist statute provided that all insured's — Class I and Class II — are entitled to the underinsured motorist coverage from the car they are driving or in which they are a passenger. Notably, the underinsured motorist statute relied on in *Bratcher* has been recodified verbatim. Therefore, the *Bratcher* decision readily translates to the present case.

In reaching its conclusion, this Court observed that "[i]n the interpretation of statutes our sole function is to determine and, within constitutional limits, give effect to the intention of the legislature. We must do this based upon the words of the statutes themselves. To do otherwise is to legislate, not interpret. The responsibility for the justice or wisdom of legislation rests exclusively with the legislature, whether or not we agree with the laws it enacts." *Bratcher*, 292 S.C. at 333, 356 S.E.2d at 153.

For these reasons, this Court's holding in *Bratcher*, based upon the same underinsured motorist statute at issue here, controls the outcome.

- A. Underinsured motorist coverage is not subject to unilateral limitation by insurance policies.

Appellant argues that the Circuit Court erred in granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment because underinsured motorist coverage is voluntary and since there is no express proscription against it, automobile insurers may impose further limitations on underinsured motorist coverage. Appellant cites *Burgess v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 373 SC. 37, 644 S.E.2d 40 (2007). *Burgess* is inapposite to the case at hand. *Burgess* specifically deals with a Class I insured's ability to reach an at-home vehicle with underinsured motorist coverage when he chooses to drive an owned vehicle without underinsured motorist coverage. *Id.* at 41, 644 S.E.2d at 42. Moreover, in *Burgess*, the policy limiting provision comports with Section 38-77-160. The named plaintiff, Burgess, was injured while operating his motorcycle. He chose not to purchase underinsured motorist coverage for his motorcycle. Burgess had three vehicles at home, each carrying \$25,000 in underinsured motorist coverage. Burgess' automobile insurance carrier argued that Burgess could not collect underinsured motorist benefits from the three at-home vehicles under the policy because he was not driving a vehicle with underinsured motorist coverage at the time of the wreck. Burgess argued that limiting the portability of underinsured motorist coverage offended public policy. The South Carolina Supreme Court agreed with the automobile insurance carrier, observing that Burgess chose to forego underinsured motorist coverage on his motorcycle and therefore should not be permitted to seek coverage from an at-home vehicle with the desired coverage. *Id.*

at 41-42, 644 S.E.2d at 4. To find in favor of portability under these circumstances, the Court opined, would encourage insured's to purchase underinsured motorist coverage on only one vehicle, yet claim coverage as to all vehicles. *Id.* at 42, 644 S.E.2d at 4.

Burgess does not support Appellant's public policy argument. Section 38-77-160 permits limitation on the portability of underinsured coverage as to Class I insured's. Moreover, the public policy of encouraging the purchase of underinsured motorist coverage as expressed in *Burgess* is a nonissue in the present case because there is underinsured motorist coverage on the vehicle in which Respondent was a passenger.

As evidenced by the limitation on stacking within § 38-77-160, the legislature could have easily limited the applicability of underinsured motorist benefits to Class I insured's, but it chose not to do so. "[I]nsurers have the right to limit their liability and impose whatever conditions they desire upon an insured, provided they are not in contravention of . . . public policy." *United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v. Markosky*, 340 S.C. 223, 226, 530 S.E.2d 660, 662 (Ct. App. 2000). Appellant argues that there is no public policy reason to protect guest passengers from at fault insured or underinsured drivers. However, Appellant's limiting provision violates public policy because it conflicts with § 38-77-30(15). *See Standard v. Shine*, 278 S.C. 337, 340, 295 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1982) ("Where no conflict with common law exists, however, this Court will not substitute its view of public policy for that of the legislature"). To remove any doubt as to what constitutes an underinsured motor vehicle, § 38-77-30(15) defines the term "underinsured motor vehicle" and affords underinsured coverage to all insured's without regard to their status as Class I or Class II insured's. If the Legislature sought to treat Class II insured's

differently from Class I insured's insofar as their ability to collect underinsured motorist benefits, it could have easily done so within the statute. As previously mentioned, the legislature has treated Class I and Class II insured's differently when it comes to stacking, and therefore could have easily limited the applicability of underinsured motorist coverage altogether to Class I insured's had it chosen to do so.

In sum, the case law and public policy of this State, as expressed in the underinsured motorist statute and the definition of an underinsured motor vehicle, provides that any insured may collect underinsured motorist coverage. According to § 38-77-30(7), the term "insured" includes both Class I and Class II. Therefore, Appellant's limiting provision violates the case law and public policy as expressed in §§ 38-77-30(15) and 38-77-160.

- B. The legislature has subsequently embraced *Bratcher* by re-codifying the underinsured motorist statute and by defining an underinsured motor vehicle to include both Class I and Class II insured's.

Omni urges that *Bratcher v. National Grange Ins. Co.*, 292 S.C. 330, 356 S.E.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1987) has been abrogated. The underinsured motorist statute this Court construed in *Bratcher* was re-codified verbatim in the current underinsured motorist statute. 1987 Act No. 155. The legislature then amended what is now S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (1987) in 1989 and again in 1994 without limiting or overruling *Bratcher*. 1989 Act No. 148 § 21; 1994 Act No. 461 § 7. The legislatures had an opportunity to change the underinsured motorist statute in reaction to the *Bratcher* decision, but they did not.

Throughout this same time, the legislature modified or overruled other judicial decisions constructing the underinsured motorist statute. The Supreme Court, for example, held in 1987 that the statutorily-required offer of underinsured motorist coverage must be meaningful. The legislature responded by enacting a presumption that an offer is meaningful if the companies use a certain form. *See Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 253, 261-62, 626 S.E.2d 6, 11-12 (2005) (describing the history of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350 (1989)).

The legislature from 1987-1989 also overruled two South Carolina Supreme Court decisions by enacting legislation that permitted insurance companies to reduce or eliminate underinsured motorist coverage by the amount of liability coverage available from the at-fault motorist. *See State Farm Mut. Ins. Co. v. Horry*, 304 S.C. 165, 167-69, 403 S.E.2d 318, 319-320 (1991) (explaining the history of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-30(15)).

The legislature could have similarly overruled or limited *Bratcher* by authorizing Appellant's exclusion in whole or in part but it did not. Instead, the legislature solidified the holding in *Bratcher* when it defined an underinsured motor vehicle as "a motor vehicle as to which there is bodily injury liability insurance . . . and the amount of the insurance or bond is less than the amount of the insureds' damages." § 38-77-30(15) (emphasis added). This definition went into effect on October 1, 1989, and has been the law of this State ever since. *Bratcher* is, therefore, well-settled and, according to the legislature, consonant with public policy.

- C. Even if this Court restricts the holding in *Bratcher* to Class I insured's, Appellant's limiting provision still fails.

Appellant asks this Court to limit *Bratcher's* holding to Class I insured's and maintains that there is a justification for treating Class I insured's differently from Class II insured's with regard to an insured's ability to collect both liability and underinsured motorist coverage. The practical effect of narrowing the holding in *Bratcher*, as Appellant desires, is that only Class I insured's could collect both liability and underinsured motorist benefits - Class II insured's could not.

Even if the Court accepts Appellant's argument to restrict the holding in *Bratcher* to Class I insured's, Appellant's policy is still unenforceable because it's policy, as written, means that "no one" - not even a Class I insured - may recover both liability and underinsured motorist benefits. Therefore, according to Appellant's policy, even Christopher Constine, the named insured, is unable to collect the benefits he purchased.

Like the automobile insurance carrier in *Bratcher*, Appellant is attempting to circumvent its responsibility to fulfill its obligations under the policy it drafted by relying on an overly-broad policy limitation. Because the policy limitation is in irreconcilable conflict with South Carolina's automobile insurance laws, the Circuit Court properly voided the limiting provision.

- II. Respondent is not seeking duplicate payments under Appellant's policy.

There is no risk of double recovery here because Appellant's responsibility to pay UIM benefits to Respondent will only result if a factfinder determines that Respondent's damages exceed \$25,000. Appellant is entitled to a setoff as to the \$25,000 liability limits it has already paid. Further, Ryals is not seeking duplicative payments as his

specials are in excess of \$63,000.00 and the liability limits that have been tendered are only \$25,000.00. Thus, the payments are not duplicative as there is more than \$38,000.00 in specials that are outstanding.

III. Appellant's Insured has not breached his obligations under the Policy.

Appellant asserts that its insured did not properly notify Appellant of the accident and that its insured sought to mitigate his criminal liability by essentially signing a false affidavit. Appellant asserts that as a result of its insured's noncooperation, it has no duty to provide UIM coverage to Respondent. However, as noted by the Circuit Court: